FILED
07-16-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2024AP002585-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NOAH Q. MANN-TATE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Denying a Transfer
of Jurisdiction to Juvenile Court, Entered in the
Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable
Jane Vinopal Carroll, Presiding

BRIEF OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DEVON M. LEE
Assistant State Public Defender
State Bar No. 1037605

Office of the State Public Defender
Post Office Box 7862
Madison, WI 53707-7862
(608) 621-5213
leede@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is the reverse waiver statute unconstitutional because the criteria do not require the court to consider juveniles' reduced culpability and potential for rehabilitation in making the reverse waiver determination?

The circuit court denied Noah's motion to dismiss the case based on the unconstitutionality of the reverse waiver statutes, Wis. Stat. §§ 938.183 and 970.032.

2. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it denied Noah's request for reverse waiver motion?

The circuit court denied Noah's request for reverse waiver.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The case is statutorily ineligible for publication. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)4. Noah welcomes oral argument if this court would find it helpful.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 19, 2023, the state filed a criminal complaint alleging that Noah, then ten years old, committed first degree intentional homicide, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.01(1)(a). (25). According to the complaint, on November 21, 2022, police responded to a report of a shooting in a residence and found Noah's mother, Q.M.M., deceased. (25:1).

According to the complaint, police interviewed Noah, who said that his mother woke him up at 6:00 a.m. Noah told police that he went to his mother's bedroom and got her gun and then went down to the basement where she was grabbing some laundry. He originally described twirling the gun around on his finger and then it "accidentally went off." Noah then woke up his sister, who discovered their mother was deceased and called 911. (25:1). Police spoke with the medical examiner, who said that Q.M.M. died from a handgun shot at her at close range. (25:1). The bullet entered through her right eye, went through her brain, and exited out of the back side of her head. (25:1). After being interviewed, Noah was allowed to remain with family. (25:2).

Noah's family contacted the police department the next morning and two detectives returned to speak with them. (25:2). Noah's older sister told police that Noah had "rage issues" and acted out. (25:2). She said that about six months earlier, Noah filled a balloon with flammable liquid and set it on fire, causing their couch and carpet to burn. (25:2). Noah explained to his mother that his sisters told him to do it. (25:2). The detectives questioned Noah, who explained that he has five imaginary people who talk to him: two sisters, one old lady, one guy, and someone who is mean whom he does not like talking to. (25:2).

Noah's sister told police that Noah was seeing a therapist. (25:2). She reported seeing paperwork from the therapist "who gave him a concerning diagnosis." (25:2). She said that Q.M.M. put cameras in their home to watch Noah but that someone had unplugged

them. (25:2). Noah's sister also reported that Noah logged on to Q.M.M.'s Amazon account and ordered a virtual reality headset on November 22, 2022, after their mother's death. (25:2).

Detectives also interviewed other family members, one of whom described Noah as intelligent and manipulative. (25:2). Noah's maternal aunt, Q.M.M.'s sister S.R, said that when Noah was four years old he picked up his puppy and swung it around by the tail and that it whined and howled. (25:2). She told detectives that Q.M.M. got rid of the dog because she was afraid it might hurt Noah. (25:2). She said that Noah's school was sending home daily behavioral updates. (25:2). She told detectives that when Noah was eight years old, after an argument with his sister, he told her that he hoped the plane she was getting on would crash and that she would die. (25:2). She said Q.M.M. stopped telling family members about Noah's behaviors and that family members did not want to babysit Noah. She told police that she learned that Noah took his mother's credit cards and ordered things off the internet. (25:2).

The complaint states that S.R. told police that Noah did not cry after his mother's death and did not show remorse. (25:2). S.R. said that when she picked up Noah after his mother's death, she asked him where the house keys were. (25:2). Noah had them in his bedroom to hide them from his mother. (25:2). S.R. noticed that one of the keys was for Q.M.M.'s gun lock box. (25:2). She told detectives that Noah told her that he aimed the gun at his mother and that his mother asked why he had it and told him to put it down. (25:2). S.R. told detectives that Noah attacked her son "to the point that she had to pull Noah Mann-Tate off of her

child.” (25:2). She drove Noah to her mother’s home to meet with child service protection workers. (25:2). When Noah saw his grandmother crying he said he was sorry for killing his mother but S.R. said he did not show empathy or compassion. (25:2). Noah asked if a package had arrived from Amazon. (25:3).

According to the complaint, detectives gave Noah his *Miranda*¹ warnings and interviewed him. (25:3). Noah told police that he was not twirling the gun around when he shot his mother. (25:3). He told police he was mad that she woke him up half an hour early. Noah told police that he held the gun with two hands and that he closed his left eye. (25:3). His mother walked in front of him when he tried to shoot the wall to scare her. (25:3). He thought he shot her when she was about three feet away from him. (25:3). He put the gun in the living room closet and told his older sister that he thought their mother was dead. (25:3).

The complaint also alleged that Noah made untruthful statements to police. He told police he was not mad at his mother but then admitted he was mad that she woke him up early; he initially told police he pried open the gun safe but later admitted he got the keys the night before and hid them in his nightstand and got the gun from the gun safe the next morning when his mother woke him up early; he first said he asked his mother whether the gun was real but later admitted he did not say anything to his mother but that she walked toward him and told him to put the gun down; that when a cousin told him he could go to jail for a long time he tried to come up with different

¹ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

stories and that he was nervous and did not know what to do when the bullet hit his mother so he tried to fake that he was innocent; and that he was not truthful when he said that his mother ordered the virtual reality headset because “people in his home do not like him ordering things from Amazon” and that his plan was to sneak it into the house and start playing it. (25:3-4).

On December 30, 2022, Noah filed an affidavit of Gina Scheik, a defense investigator who interviewed S.R., Noah’s maternal aunt. (22). Per the affidavit, S.R. stated that there were two inaccurate statements in the criminal complaint. First, the complaint said that Noah got his mother’s keys from his bedroom. S.R. stated that she asked Noah why he was playing with Q.M.M.’s keys the night before the incident and that he told her he hid the keys from his mother. She stated that she never saw Noah with his mother’s keys. (22:1). The second error in the complaint was that it stated that Noah “attacked her 7-year-old son” and that she had to pull Noah off of him. S.R. stated that this was not true, and that her son reported that Noah kicked him and punched him, and that Noah bullied him, but that S.R. believed Noah was acting on behaviors he experienced from school, as he was bullied there. (22:2). She stated that it was not a physical attack and she did not need to pull Noah off her son. (22:2).

Based on the charge and Noah’s age, the criminal court had original jurisdiction under Wis. Stat. § 938.183. Noah’s attorneys requested a competency evaluation for Noah, and the court appointed Dr. Karyn Gust-Brey to evaluate him. (33). Dr. Gust-Brey submitted a report, and later an

updated report, to the court. (35; 42). Defense counsel retained an independent evaluator, Dr. Antoinette Kavanaugh, who also submitted a report. (38; 46). Dr. Gust-Brey found Noah competent to stand trial, while Dr. Kavanaugh found Noah not competent. (35; 42; 46). A contested competency hearing was held over two days. (20; 51, 49).

At the competency hearing, Dr. Gust-Brey testified that she was able to teach Noah about legal concepts he did not understand. (51:30-31, 33-34, 62-87, 92). She diagnosed Noah with oppositional defiant disorder. (51:35). She explained that Noah uses a “great deal of fantasy,” and she considered whether that or Noah’s young age affected his competency but determined it did not. (51:36). When asked about the oppositional defiant disorder, Dr. Gust-Brey explained that Noah was overall cooperative with her and that she based the diagnosis on past reports only. (51:95-96).

Dr. Kavanaugh testified that she reviewed Noah’s records and Dr. Gust-Brey’s report. (51:104-105). Specifically, she reviewed a neuropsychological report that was conducted because Noah had sustained a concussion after which his behavior had changed. (41:121). She noted that Noah had been working on regulating his emotions in therapy, and that Noah’s therapist diagnosed him with adjustment disorder. (51:122-23).

Dr. Kavanaugh explained that while Noah had some understanding of some concepts, he did not adequately understand many of them. (51:144-156). Dr. Kavanaugh concluded that Noah was not competent to proceed because he had “fundamental

errors in knowledge” and an inability to display an appropriate understanding of the terms he used. (51:157). Following arguments from the parties, the court found that Noah was competent to proceed. (49:31-41).

A preliminary hearing was held on September 5, 2023. At the hearing, the state called Timothy Keller, a detective with the City of Milwaukee who was called to the scene of Q.M.M.’s death. (66:4-5). He testified that they were able to determine that Q.M.M. died from a gunshot to her head. (66:6). Detectives then interviewed Noah and Noah’s sister at their home. (66:6). Noah first reported that he took his mother’s gun, which he believed to be a confetti gun, from the lockbox and was twirling it on his finger when it accidentally fired. (66:7). Noah told detectives he opened the lockbox by slipping his fingers under the lid and pulled the trigger while upstairs, however, there was no indication that the gun had been fired upstairs. (66:8-9).

Keller testified that after one of Noah’s family members contacted law enforcement, Noah was taken into custody and given *Miranda* warnings. Keller explained that “eventually we got to a point” where Noah indicated that he had an argument with his mother the night before because she did not let him order virtual reality goggles but that was not the reason the incident happened. (66:12-13). Keller testified that Noah told him that the next morning his mother woke him up early and he was upset. He took the gun downstairs to the basement where his mother was doing laundry. (66:14). Noah fired the gun to scare his mother. (66:14).

Based on this testimony, the court found there was probable cause to believe that Noah committed first degree intentional homicide. (66:61-64; App. 14-16).

The case proceeded to the reverse waiver hearing. Noah called Dr. Michael Caldwell, who testified that he is a part-time lecturer in the department of psychology at the University of Wisconsin-Madison and recently retired from the Mendota Juvenile Treatment Center (MJTC) as a senior staff psychologist. (73:31). Dr. Caldwell met with Noah, reviewed records, and conducted testing as part of his evaluation. (73:40-41). Dr. Caldwell noted that Noah had a history of migraine headaches, difficulty sleeping, and a concussion from 2021. (73:42). There was also concern that Noah might have attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. (73:46). Dr. Caldwell noted that Noah's mother had obtained a neuropsychological evaluation and therapy for him. (73:42). Noah began therapy, and the notes indicated that Noah did not have difficulties in his family. (73:47). School records indicated that, with the exception of the second half of third grade, Noah was "a delight" to have in school and that there were no behavioral issues. (73:48). Noah changed schools in fourth grade and his mother expressed concern about the level of violence there. (73:49).

Dr. Caldwell also reviewed the neuropsychological evaluation conducted in February 2022. (73:50). Dr. Caldwell testified that Noah's IQ skills were slightly lower than average. (73:51, 54, 73). He explained that he compared Noah's raw scores from the IQ test that had been done to the adult functional standard to provide the court with an

idea of how Noah was functioning compared to an average 17-year-old and determined that if a 17-year-old were functioning at Noah's level, their comparable IQ score would fall in the category of having an intellectual disability. (73:54). Dr. Caldwell explained that he provided this information because "in essence, we're applying the adult standards for prosecution, culpability, sentencing and so on, at least at this point." (73:55).

Dr. Caldwell also testified that the testing that had already been done showed some anomalies, which he believed could be caused by post-concussive issues. (73:58). Dr. Caldwell explained that Noah showed some distortion of reality, like reporting hallucinations and having animals in his room. (73:59). Dr. Caldwell's report also explained that Noah engaged in magical thinking as a way of coping. (60:16).

Dr. Caldwell reviewed Dr. Gust-Brey's competency evaluation and explained that he disagreed with her diagnosis. (73:61). He noted that Noah did not have issues with defiance of authority at school or in the detention facility, only with his mother. (73:61-62, 148-150). He noted that Noah seemed to go out of his way to comply with people in positions of authority and Noah was doing well in detention. (73:62-64).

Dr. Caldwell interviewed Noah and described him as very cooperative. (73:66-67). Dr. Caldwell explained that Noah was not always able to distinguish what actually happened from what he may have thought happened, which he attributed to Noah having possible difficulties with memory retrieval and a weak sense of reality. (73:67-68). Dr. Caldwell also

noted that Noah did not have an interest in violence, liked Minecraft and Garfield, and did not identify with violent subcultures, which meant that he would not need lengthy rehabilitation to correct attitudes that tend to propagate violence. (73:71-72).

Dr. Caldwell provided what he described as a “descriptive diagnosis,” based on Noah’s symptoms, of schizophreniform disorder. (73:80, 111). He described this as a cluster of symptoms involving a distorted sense of reality, including imaginary friends, hallucinations, delusions, and disordered reality in his thinking. (73:80-81). Dr. Caldwell explained that these symptoms could be caused by delayed maturation or could be an early sign of a serious mental health disorder, but that he believed it was more likely that it was a delayed developmental process and that it would dissipate as Noah got older. (73:82, 134, 154-55).

Dr. Caldwell testified he conducted the Risk Sophistication Treatment Inventory. (73:86). On the first scale, Noah scored as very low risk for violence. (73:87). On the second scale, Noah was in the second percentile for “sophistication maturity,” meaning that 98 percent of children facing waiver were more mature or criminally sophisticated. (73:87). And on the third scale, Noah scored in the 74th percentile, meaning that he was more likely to respond positively to treatment and rehabilitation efforts than 74 percent of the comparison sample of 14- to 15-year-old youth. (73:87-88).

Regarding Noah's treatment needs, Dr. Caldwell testified that Noah should be evaluated for an IEP², continue with school, and receive treatment for reality distortions. (73:95, 139). Further, Noah would need regular ongoing counseling to deal with depression, which would be available in the juvenile system. (73:95-96). Dr. Caldwell explained that the treatment available in the adult system right now "is not very good." (73:97). When asked if Noah could be treated in the juvenile system, Dr. Caldwell testified that "I am very confident. His prognosis is really good." (73:99). Specifically, he noted that "[p]robably over the course of my experience, I can only think of a few -- a very small number, a handful of kids who had a similar or better prognosis than Noah. (73:99). He explained that he believed Noah could be fully rehabilitated in under ten years. (73:156-57).

Lynn Bade, a human services worker for Children's Youth and Family Services, also testified. (73:158). Ms. Bade testified that she was involved in Noah's case because Noah had no guardian when he first came to detention. (73:160-61). She reported that Noah was receiving positive recognition and good grades in detention. (73:162-63). Ms. Bade described the various services available if a youth is on a stayed serious juvenile offender program order, including potential placement options. (73:166-81).

The next day the court told the parties that it wanted victim impact information from the family to assist with its determination of whether reverse waiver would depreciate the seriousness of the offense. (74:3-4).

² IEP stands for Individualized Education Program.

Noah then called Dr. Steven Dykstra, a psychologist for Milwaukee County, who provided expert witness testimony regarding child brain development. (74:8). He described the concepts of neuroplasticity and myelination. (74:8-19). He explained that neuroplasticity means that brain development in childhood is not set in stone. (74:11). Dr. Dykstra also testified regarding available treatment in the juvenile system and in Milwaukee County. (74:39, 62-71). He described residential treatment centers and the treatment they provide. (74:39-46).

Regarding a diagnosis of schizophreniform disorder, Dr. Dykstra testified that it would be important for the treatment provider to be cognizant that the individual would be at a higher risk of exhibiting schizophrenia than someone in the general public. (74:57). Dr. Dykstra explained that he had seen children with this diagnosis do very well in residential treatment programs. (74:58). He explained that schizophrenia can be delayed through therapy and treatment and that the individual can receive treatment much sooner if the condition is already being addressed by a team of providers. (74:59-60). He, however, would make a different, but related diagnosis of attenuated psychosis syndrome for Noah. (74: 140-41).

With respect to the adult criminal system, Dr. Dykstra testified that the most appropriate available service for someone with Noah's diagnosis appeared to be cognitive behavioral therapy. (78:73-74). Dr. Dykstra testified that the Department of Corrections' website data indicated that there was a waitlist of over 10,000 individuals, the DOC

prioritized getting people ready for discharge and return to the community, and that people waited a “long, long, long, long time” for services. (74:74, 78).

Finally, Noah called his father, Levencia Tate, before resting his case. (74:169-181). However, after being prompted by the court at the next hearing, Noah filed a motion to reopen and adjourn his case while he waited for requested DOC records. (76; 122:4). The court granted the motion. (122:8-9, 59-60).

The reverse waiver hearing continued on April 29, 2024. The state called Dr. Gust-Brey, who testified about the competency evaluation she had conducted. (122:9-12). She affirmed her conclusion that Noah had oppositional defiant disorder and testified that she disagreed with Dr. Caldwell’s diagnosis of persistent depressive disorder. (122:12-14). She believed Noah saying he had imaginary pets was likely based on his development, age, and imagination, and testified that she did not see value in Dr. Caldwell’s method of comparing IQ results based on age. (122:20, 24-26).

Noah filed a motion to dismiss the case, challenging the constitutionality of the reverse waiver statutes. (80). The motion alleged that: (1) the reverse waiver factors in Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2) violate due process; (2) children have a constitutional right to be treated as children and tried differently than adults; (3) Wis. Stat. § 938.038’s requirement that some 10-year-old children face prosecution in adult court violates children’s right to equal protection; (4) the racially disparate impact on black children of original adult court jurisdiction violates due process; and (5) Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(m) violates the prohibition

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