FILED
09-12-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT I

Case No. 2024AP2585-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NOAH Q. MANN-TATE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO
DISMISS CHARGES AND AN ORDER DENYING
REVERSE WAIVER INTO JUVENILE COURT ENTERED
IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE JANE CARROLL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857
(608) 267-2796

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Mann-Tate has not met his burden to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the “reverse waiver” procedure for juveniles under original adult court jurisdiction is facially unconstitutional as a matter of due process.**

A. Standard of Review

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Barrett*, 2020 WI App 13, ¶ 14, 391 Wis. 2d 283, 941 N.W.2d 866.

Statutes enjoy a strong presumption of constitutionality, meaning this Court “indulges every presumption to sustain the law if at all possible, and if any doubt exists about a statute’s constitutionality,” this Court “must resolve that doubt in favor of constitutionality.” *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 11, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328 (citations omitted). Accordingly, a person “seeking to prove a statute unconstitutional faces a heavy burden.” *Id.* “[I]t falls to the party challenging the constitutionality of a statute to prove that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* “It is insufficient to merely establish doubt as to

an act's constitutionality nor is it sufficient to establish the act is probably constitutional.' If any doubt remains, this [C]ourt must uphold the statute as constitutional." *Id.* (citation omitted).

"Challenges to the constitutionality of a statute are generally defined in two manners: as-applied and facial." *Serv. Emps. Int'l Union, Loc. 1 v. Vos*, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 37, 393 Wis. 2d 38, 946 N.W.2d 35, *overruled in part on other grounds by Evers v. Marklein*, 2025 WI 36, ¶ 38, 22 N.W.3d 789. "As-applied challenges address a specific application of the statute against the challenging party" and "the reviewing court considers the facts of the particular case in front of it to determine" whether the way the law was applied in that particular situation violated the constitution. *Id.*

"In a facial challenge, however, the challenging party claims that the law is unconstitutional on its face—that is, it operates unconstitutionally in all applications." *Id.* ¶ 38. "Proving a legislative enactment cannot ever be enforced constitutionally 'is the most difficult of constitutional challenges' and an 'uphill endeavor.'" *Id.* ¶ 39 (citations omitted). "Parties casting the widest possible net and seeking the broadest possible remedy must make the maximum possible showing." *Id.* ¶ 43. To succeed on such a challenge, then, "the challenging party must show that the statute cannot be enforced 'under any circumstances.'" *Id.* ¶ 38 (citation omitted). "If a law can only be applied unconstitutionally, it is [the court's] duty to say so. But if it can be applied constitutionally, it would be an overstep on [the court's] part to strike down a legislative enactment with constitutional applications." *Id.* ¶ 42.

With certain exceptions not relevant here, constitutional challenges are reviewed under one of two tests. If the legislative enactment implicates a suspect class or "impermissibly interferes with the exercise of a fundamental right," strict scrutiny review applies. *State v. Knipfer*, 2014

WI App 9, ¶ 10, 352 Wis. 2d 563, 842 N.W.2d 526 (citation omitted). If neither is at issue, rational basis review applies. *Mayo v. Wis. Injured Patients and Fams. Comp. Fund*, 2018 WI 78, ¶ 36, 383 Wis. 2d 1, 914 N.W.2d 678. Under that test, “the statute ‘must be sustained unless it is “patently arbitrary” and bears no rational relationship to a legitimate government interest.’” *Id.* ¶ 40 (citation omitted). Courts “are not concerned with the merits of the legislation under attack,” nor “concerned with the wisdom of what the legislature has done. We are judicially concerned only when the statute clearly contravenes some constitutional provision” and serves no legitimate purpose. *State ex rel. Hammermill Paper Co. v. LaPlante*, 58 Wis. 2d 32, 47, 205 N.W.2d 784 (1973).

B. Mann-Tate has not met his heavy burden to show that the original jurisdiction and reverse waiver statutes can never be constitutionally applied.

1. This Court should reject Mann-Tate’s arguments as insufficiently developed.

As a preliminary matter, Mann-Tate never articulates whether he is raising facial or as-applied challenge to Wis. Stat. § 970.032. (Mann-Tate’s Br. 8–41.) He does not develop any argument that the reverse waiver statute is constitutional generally but unconstitutional as applied to him. (Mann-Tate’s Br. 27–41.) He seems to argue that the statute is unconstitutional as to all juveniles because it does not require the type of specific factfinding he envisions before the criminal court in an original jurisdiction case may retain jurisdiction over the juvenile. (Mann-Tate’s Br. 27–41.) That makes this a facial challenge with the accompanying high burden to show that it can never be constitutionally applied in any circumstance. *Evers*, 2025 WI 36, ¶ 26.

Mann-Tate also never articulates whether he is raising a substantive or procedural due process challenge. (Mann-Tate's Br. 34–41.) He instead refers collectively to “fundamental . . . substantive and procedural due process rights” (Mann-Tate's Br. 34–35), but never identifies any right beyond generic “fairness” at issue, and never engages in either the strict scrutiny or rational basis test but simply summarily declares the reverse waiver statute “unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt” because it does not explicitly mandate consideration of what he believes it should (Mann-Tate's Br. 34–41).

Indeed, Mann-Tate does not even articulate what he would ask this Court to require of circuit courts conducting reverse waiver hearings. (Mann-Tate's Br. 27–41.) He seems to be asking for some sort of “magic words” requirement lifted from the Supreme Court's Eighth Amendment cases regarding juveniles but fails to explain what type of evidence or factfinding he would require of circuit courts assessing reverse waiver. (Mann-Tate's Br. 40.) He also fails to show that the circuit court did not consider those things in his case. (Mann-Tate's Br. 27–41.)

Mann-Tate's failure to appropriately develop these arguments alone should dispose of his claim. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). The two due process interests are not the same and have vastly different requirements and implications. Likewise, review under strict scrutiny and review under the rational basis test impose very different burdens for upholding the statute. As this Court has explained, “[a] party must do more than simply toss a bunch of concepts into the air with the hope that either [this Court] or the opposing party will arrange them into viable and fact-supported legal theories.” *State v. Jackson*, 229 Wis. 2d 328, 337, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999). This is especially true with constitutional claims like the ones Mann-Tate raises: “[c]onstitutional claims are very complicated from

an analytic perspective, both to brief and to decide.” *Cemetery Servs., Inc. v. DRL*, 221 Wis. 2d 817, 831, 586 N.W.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1998). Arguments raising “the specter of such claims [are] insufficient to constitute a valid appeal of these constitutional issues to this [C]ourt.” *Id.* This Court should affirm the circuit court on the ground that Mann-Tate’s argument is inadequately briefed.

Mann-Tate’s failure to develop appropriate arguments on these concepts also means he has not approached meeting his heavy burden to prove the reverse waiver procedure facially unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. Because these independent concepts and tests cannot be conflated the way Mann-Tate has done, the State addresses each separately.

2. Mann-Tate has no substantive due process right to participation in the juvenile court system.

The substantive due process guarantees of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions forbid governments “from exercising ‘power without any reasonable justification in the service of a legitimate governmental objective.’” *State v. Quintana*, 2008 WI 33, ¶ 80, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447 (citation omitted).² “The right to substantive due process addresses ‘the content of what government may do to people under the guise of the law.’” *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 17, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63 (citation omitted). “An individual’s substantive due process rights protect against a state action that is arbitrary, wrong, or oppressive, without

² The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in relevant part: “nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. The Wisconsin Constitution provides equivalent guarantees in Art. I, § 1 and Art. I, § 8. *See State v. Radke*, 2003 WI 7, ¶¶ 6, 12 n.15, 259 Wis. 2d 13, 657 N.W.2d 66.

regard for whether the state implemented fair procedures when applying the action.” *Id.*; *see also, State v. Schulpis*, 2006 WI 1, ¶ 33, 287 Wis. 2d 44, 707 N.W.2d 495.

“The Supreme Court of the United States ‘has always been reluctant to expand the concept of substantive due process because guideposts for reasonable decision making in this uncharted area are scarce and open-ended.’” *Black v. City of Milwaukee*, 2016 WI 47, ¶ 47, 369 Wis. 2d 272, 882 N.W.2d 333 (quoting *Collins v. City of Harker Heights*, 503 U.S. 115, 126 (1992)). This is so because “extending constitutional protection to an asserted right or liberty interest . . . place[s] the matter outside the arena of public debate and legislative action.” *Id.* (quoting *Washington v. Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. 702, 720 (1997)). Thus, courts exercise judicial self-restraint when determining what is a “fundamental” liberty interest as “the Fourteenth Amendment ‘forbids the government to infringe . . . “fundamental” liberty interests *at all*, no matter what process is provided, unless the infringement is narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest.’” *Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. at 721 (alteration in original) (citation omitted).

“Fundamental rights are those which are either explicitly or implicitly based in the Constitution.” *State v. Martin*, 191 Wis. 2d 646, 652, 530 N.W.2d 420 (Ct. App. 1995). The Supreme Court’s “established method” to evaluate a substantive due process claim is two-fold. *Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. at 720. First, the court carefully describes the asserted fundamental liberty interest. *Id.* at 721–23.³ Second the Court determines if the carefully described interest is a fundamental right or liberty “objectively, ‘deeply rooted in

³ While the Court labels “careful description” as its second “primary feature[]” of a “substantive-due-process analysis,” it is actually the first step in the analysis. *Washington v. Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. 702, 720–23 (1997).

this Nation’s history and tradition,’ and ‘implicit in the concept of ordered liberty,’ such that ‘neither liberty nor justice would exist if they were sacrificed.’” *Id.* at 720–21 (citations omitted).

“The mere novelty of . . . a claim is reason enough to doubt that ‘substantive due process’ sustains it.” *Id.* at 723 (citation omitted). “[T]he outlines of the ‘liberty’ specially protected by the Fourteenth Amendment—never fully clarified, to be sure, and perhaps not capable of being fully clarified—have at least been carefully refined by concrete examples involving fundamental rights found to be deeply rooted in our legal tradition.” *Id.* at 722.

In an equal protection challenge to the portion of the statute making battery on correctional staff an original criminal court jurisdiction crime and imposing a mandatory minimum sentence, this Court has already rejected the heart of Mann-Tate’s argument: that he has some kind of fundamental liberty interest in “individualized treatment either in the ‘reverse waiver’ procedure or in sentencing because it is neither explicitly nor inherently found in the Constitution.” *Martin*, 191 Wis. 2d at 655. “The kind and nature of considerations adherent to waiver and sentencing are historically for the legislature to determine.” *Id.* at 655–66. After observing that the Supreme Court denied a claim that there is a substantive liberty interest in individualized sentencing,⁴ this Court held:

⁴ None of the juvenile sentencing cases on which Mann-Tate attempts to rely changed this holding, even related to juveniles. The State discusses those cases more thoroughly in Part I.B.4.a., but they all held that certain punishments were categorically prohibited for juveniles. Only in making life-without-parole decisions is individualized sentencing required for juveniles. *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477–78 (2012). These cases in no way prohibited lesser mandatory minimum sentences for juveniles, *(Continued on next page)*

Thus, not only is there no fundamental right to individualized sentencing and, by extension, to waiver hearings, but, historically and traditionally, the right to classify crimes and enact procedures that travel to ‘deterrability’ and ‘depreciation’ are for society. The voice of society in this country is the legislature. It follows that the legislature has the responsibility for enacting laws reflecting society’s appreciation of the seriousness of one crime as opposed to another. The legislature also has the obligation to measure the kinds of sanctions that will, in society’s judgment, best deter future criminality.

Id. at 656. “Thus, the State may classify different groups of citizens and ascribe certain procedures to those groups which may be different than other groups. That includes the narrowing or broadening of factors to consider in waiver, reverse waiver and sentencing.” *Id.* at 657.

Likewise, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has unequivocally held that “there exists no fundamental right to be treated as a juvenile nor is there a fundamental right not [to] be incarcerated for criminal behavior.” *State v. Annala*, 168 Wis. 2d 453, 468, 484 N.W.2d 138 (1992). This Court cannot overrule or ignore *Martin* or *Annala*. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189–90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997).

More broadly, substantive due process rights do not arise from procedural statutes like the reverse waiver procedure. Liberty interests “entitled to substantive due process protection . . . are ‘created only by the Constitution.’” *Hawkins v. Freeman*, 195 F.3d 732, 748 (4th Cir. 1999)

mandated that courts make individualized sentencing decisions in every juvenile case, nor dictated the grounds on which courts must sentence juvenile offenders. *See (Brett) Jones v. Mississippi*, 593 U.S. 98, 104–05, 107–18 (2021) (holding that a discretionary sentencing scheme is sufficient without more to constitutionally impose a life-without-parole sentence on a juvenile homicide offender, and neither specific factfinding nor a written explanation of reasons are required).

(quoting *Regents of Univ. of Mich. v. Ewing*, 474 U.S. 214, 229 (1985) (Powell, J., concurring)). Mann-Tate has no constitutional right to be treated as a juvenile in any court system. *Annala*, 168 Wis. 2d at 468; *see also Stokes v. Fair*, 581 F.2d 287, 289 (1st Cir. 1978). States providing for non-criminal treatment of juveniles who commit crimes is not “objectively, ‘deeply rooted in this Nation’s history and tradition,’ and ‘implicit in the concept of ordered liberty,’ such that ‘neither liberty nor justice would exist if they were sacrificed.’” *Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. at 720–21 (citation omitted). The United States and Wisconsin Constitutions do not recognize a right to different treatment as a juvenile by the court system. Nor does either set forth a liberty interest in participation in Wisconsin’s procedures created for its juvenile court system. Mann-Tate does not have a fundamental due process right to participation in Wisconsin’s juvenile court procedures.

3. There is a rational basis for the reverse waiver procedure.

Because Mann-Tate has no fundamental right to juvenile court jurisdiction, his substantive due process challenge is subject to rational basis review. *State v. Radke*, 2003 WI 7, ¶ 12, 259 Wis. 2d 13, 657 N.W.2d 66. Under that demanding standard, this Court “will sustain a statute against a constitutional challenge if there is ‘any reasonable basis’ for the statute.” *Id.* ¶ 11 (citation omitted). This Court has already held that the former (though functionally identical) versions of Wis. Stat. §§ 938.183 and 970.032 survive rational basis review. *Martin*, 191 Wis. 2d at 657–63. And while the *Martin* court was addressing an equal protection challenge to original criminal jurisdiction for juveniles who commit assaults on juvenile corrections staff, original jurisdiction in the adult criminal court for first-degree intentional homicide offenders easily survives rational basis review as well.

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